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CHAPTER 1 - FOREWORD

PURPOSE

The 2023-24 Financial Report presents the
consolidated financial outcomes for the State of
Victoria, including the general government sectot,
the public non-financial corporations sector and the
public financial corporations sector.

This chapter outlines the economic and fiscal
context for the State’s financial performance and
position, and summarises the 2023-24 results.

Chapter 2 analyses the results for the general
government sector, comparing them with actual
outcomes in 2022-23 and the revised estimates for
the year as presented in the 2024-25 Budget.

Chapter 3 presents the 2023-24 results for the State
of Victoria and the broader public sector.

Chapter 4 contains the audited financial statements
as required under the Financial Management Act 1994.
These are presented in line with applicable
Australian accounting standards and
pronouncements, in particular AASB 1049 Whole of
Government and General Government Sector Financial
Reporting.

Chapter 5 provides supplementary information
required under the Uniform Presentation
Framework. Appendix A includes the Quarterly
Financial Report for the general government sector
as required by Section 26 of the Financial Management
At 1994. Appendix B presents a compliance index
providing a linkage between the relevant legislative
provisions relating to the preparation of this report
and the disclosure provided therein.

ECONOMIC CONTEXT

The Victorian economy performed well in 2023-24,
despite the global and national challenges of high
inflation and elevated interest rates. Employment
growth was strong and the unemployment rate
remained low throughout the year.

In 2023-24, state final demand — a key indicator of
economic activity — grew by 2.1 per cent in real
terms, following strong growth in 2022-23. This
resulted in state final demand being 14.4 per cent
larger than in 2018-19, the last full financial year
before the COVID-19 pandemic. Among the
components of final demand, business investment
recorded the strongest increase, rising by

6.0 per cent in 2023-24. This reflects a solid pipeline
of significant energy and transport projects, and
increased investment in machinery and equipment.
Investment has been supported by the elevated level
of demand in the economy, which has encouraged
firms to increase their productive capacity.

Public demand also contributed to growth in state
final demand in 2023-24, driven in part by
investment in infrastructure projects.

Household consumption grew modestly amid
cost-of-living pressures, while dwelling investment
detracted from final demand growth as higher
interest rates, labour shortages and high
construction costs continued to affect activity.

The high level of activity in the Victorian
economy has supported a healthy labour market.
The share of working-age Victorians in
employment was near a record level in 2023-24,
and labour force participation reached record
highs in the year. In annual terms, employment
grew by a strong 3.5 per cent. The unemployment
rate increased modestly in 2023-24 but remained
low by historical standards, averaging 4.0 per cent.
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Inflation remains high, as is the case nationally and
globally, but has eased. In year-average terms,
headline Melbourne inflation averaged 4.0 per cent
in 2023-24, down from 6.9 per cent in 2022-23.
The easing of inflationary pressure has been driven
by slower growth in goods prices, as global-supply
chain disruptions have largely been resolved and
demand for goods has eased. Services price growth
remains high, though, and as a result the Reserve
Bank of Australia has kept interest rates at elevated
levels.

Wages increased by 3.6 per cent in 2023-24, the
fastest rate of nominal wages growth in over a
decade. Wage growth was driven by the tight labour
market, the pass-through of elevated inflation into
negotiated wage outcomes, and a larger-than-normal
increase in minimum and award wages.

The Victorian population rose by a strong 2.7 per cent
over the year to March 2024 (reflecting the latest
available data). Growth was driven by net overseas
migration, led by a recovery in international student
arrivals following the COVID-19 pandemic. Net
overseas migration over the past year has remained

significantly above its peak levels before the pandemic.

FISCAL OBJECTIVES

As part of the 2023-24 Budget, the Government
outlined its financial measures and targets for the
202324 financial year, including:

e general government net debt as a percentage of
gross state product (GSP) to stabilise in the
medium term

e general government interest expense as a
percentage of revenue to stabilise in the
medium term

e fully fund the unfunded superannuation liability
by 2035

e anet operating cash surplus consistent with
maintaining general government net debt at a
sustainable level.

The 2023-24 results compared with the
Government’s financial measures and targets were:

e netdebt to GSP of 21.9 per cent at
30 June 2024, lower than the revised estimate in
the 2024-25 Budget of 22.3 per cent and an
increase from 20.2 per cent at 30 June 2023

e interest expense as a percentage of revenue of
6.1 per cent for the 2023-24 financial yeat,
lower than the revised estimate in the 2024-25
Budget of 6.2 per cent and an increase of
1.4 percentage points compared with the
previous year

e anet operating cash surplus of $2.6 billion,
$2.2 billion higher than the revised estimate in
the 2024-25 Budget of $427 million.

The Government remains on track to fully fund the
unfunded superannuation liability by 2035, with a
contribution of $139 million made to the State
Superannuation Fund, under section 90(2) of the
State Superannnation Act 1988, to fund this liability in
2023-24.

FISCAL OUTCOMES

The Government recorded a general government
sector operating deficit of $4.2 billion for 2023-24.

The 2023-24 operating result was an improvement
of $411 million compared with the revised estimate
in the 2024-25 Budget, mainly due to higher than
forecast revenue, primarily grants revenue and other
revenue and income. This increased revenue was
partially offset by higher than forecast expenses,
primarily employee expenses and other
superannuation.

Government infrastructure investment (GII), which
includes general government net infrastructure
investment (net of asset sales) and estimated
construction related cash outflows for Partnerships
Victoria projects, was $24.2 billion for 2023-24.
This was higher than the revised budget of

$24 billion published in the 2024-25 Budget, driven
by high levels of activity and the value of assets and
services received free of charge under the Metro
Tunnel service concession arrangement reflecting
adjustments for actual costs and in-principle
alignhment on contract matters for this project.
Compared with the previous year, GII increased by
$2.4 billion, largely due to extensive capital
infrastructure investment in the transport,
education, housing and health sectors.

2 Chapter 1
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Net debt for the general government sector was
$133.2 billion (21.9 per cent of estimated gross state
product) at 30 June 2024, $2.6 billion lower than the
revised estimate in the 2024-25 Budget. This improved
result primarily reflects a higher than forecast net
operating cash surplus.

The net operating cash surplus of $2.6 billion was
an improvement of $2.2 billion compared with the
$427 million surplus forecast in the 2024-25 Budget.
The improvement from the revised budget was
primarily driven by lower than forecast payments on
goods and services and grants due to the timing of
payments across departments. There were also
higher grant receipts than forecast primarily due to
local government grants from the Commonwealth.

Victoria is rated AA+ by Fitch Ratings (Fitch), AA by
Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Aa2 by Moody’s Ratings
(Moody’s). All three ratings are with a stable outlook.
The Fitch rating and outlook reflect the State’s strong
and diverse economy, which will support a continued
recovery in the fiscal position following the recent
challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. Moody’s
rating and outlook reflect the strong institutional
framework for Australian states and their ability to
adjust state-based revenues and expenditures as
required. S&P in its latest report notes that Victoria’s
economy is wealthy, well diversified and has solid
fundamentals with low unemployment.

2023-24 Financial Report
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CHAPTER 2 — GENERAL GOVERNMENT SECTOR OUTCOME

e The Government recorded a general government Fiscal aggregates are useful for assessing the impact of
sector operating deficit of $4.2 billion in 2023-24, the financial transactions of the Government and its
an improvement of $4.6 billion compared with controlled entities on the economy. These measutes,
$8.8 billion in 2022-23. derived from the audited financial statements in

Ch 4 h in Table 2.1.
e The 2023-24 operating result was an apter &, are showr in table

improvement of $411 million compared with the
revised estimate in the 2024-25 Budger. This was
due to higher than expected revenue of $1 billion,
partially offset by higher than expected expenses
of $636 million.

e The level of government infrastructure
investment was $24.2 billion in 2023-24. This was
higher than the revised budget of $24 billion
published in the 2024-25 Budget, driven by high
levels of activity and the value of assets and
services received free of charge under the Metro
Tunnel service concession arrangement reflecting
adjustments for actual costs and in-principle
alighment on contract matters for this project.

e Net debt for the general government sector was
$133.2 billion (21.9 per cent of gross state
product (GSP)) at 30 June 2024 compared with
$135.9 billion (22.3 per cent of GSP) published in
the 2024-25 Budget. This improved result primarily
reflects a higher than forecast net operating cash
surplus.
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Table 2.1: Key fiscal aggregates for the general government sector

Operating statement aggregates

Net result from transactions — Net operating balance
Net result

Net lending/(borrowing)

Comprehensive result — Total change in net worth

(S million)

2023 2024 2024
actual actual revised
(8 847) (4 223) (4 635)
(9 847) (4 493) (5081)
(20132) (17 099) (17 645)
8252 3076 (9 331)

Balance sheet aggregates
Net worth

Net financial worth

Net financial liabilities
Net debt

186783 189859 177452
(69278)  (86686) (93 533)
165321 184865 186961
115044 133241 135874

Cash flow statement aggregates
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash surplus/(deficit)

Net debt to GSP @
Interest expense to revenue

4250 2623 427
(11698)  (14434) (16 896)

(per cent)
20.2 21.9 22.3
4.7 6.1 6.2

Note:

(a) The ratios to GSP may vary from publications year to year due to revisions to the Australian Bureau of Statistics data.

The net result from transactions deficit of

$4.2 billion improved by $411 million compared with
the $4.6 billion deficit forecast in the 2024-25 Budget.
The improved result was primarily due to higher than
expected grant revenue as well as higher than
expected other revenue and income received in
2023-24. This was partially offset by higher than
forecast expenses.

The $4.6 billion lower deficit compared with the
2022-23 result was primarily due to an increase in
revenue, mainly driven by an increase in taxation
revenue due to the commencement of the COVID
Debt Levy in 2023-24, as well as an increase in
payroll tax revenue due to a strong labour market
and the cessation of the New Jobs Tax Credit
introduced in the 2020-21 Budger. Also driving the
increase was higher goods and services tax (GST)
grants from the Commonwealth driven by the
annual growth in the national GST pool and
population share growth in Victoria.

The increase in revenue was partially offset by an
increase in employee expenses, mainly due to
increased spending on service delivery in the health
and education sectors and increases in remuneration
levels in line with enterprise bargaining agreements.
There was also higher interest expense reflecting
additional borrowings to finance the State’s capital
program and an increase in the interest rates on
borrowings.

The net result is a further measure of financial
performance for the period, including the impact of
market movements on the value of assets and
liabilities. The 2023-24 net result was an improvement
of $588 million compared with the revised budget and
an improvement of $5.4 billion compared with the
2022-23 outcome. The improvement compared with
the prior year was due to the same reasons as
explained for the net result from transactions, as well
as lower losses from other economic flows in 2023-24,
including due to the capital gains from the Victorian
Future Fund.

The net lending/ (borrowing) measure broadly
reflects the net impact of the general government
sector on the economy and financial markets,
including the impact of operating and capital
investing transactions. Net borrowing of

$17.1 billion for 2023-24 was a $547 million
improvement compared with the revised estimate in
the 2024-25 Budget, mainly due to an improvement
in the net result from transactions explained
previously.
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The 2023-24 comprehensive result — total
change in net worth significantly improved
compared with the revised estimate. The increase of
$12.4 billion from the revised budget is attributable
to the revaluation of assets primarily in the health
sector and lower than expected valuation loss in the
general government sector’s investment in other
sector entities. This increase is primarily due to an
increased net asset position of the Treasury
Corporation of Victoria (TCV) resulting from a
mark-to-market revaluation gain compared with a
loss in the revised estimate, and an increase in the
Transport Accident Commission’s (TAC) net asset
position due to favourable financial market
performance and higher discount rates, partially
offset by higher actuarial inflation expectations.
There was also a remeasurement gain on the State’s
defined benefit superannuation liability. This was
primarily due to an increase in the bond yield which
underlies the superannuation valuation, partly offset
by lower than expected investment returns on
superannuation assets between 31 March 2024 and
30 June 2024.

Net worth is 2 measure of economic wealth and is
equal to net assets outlined in Table 2.4. The
$12.4 billion increase compared with the revised
budget is due to the drivers as explained in the
comprehensive result — total change in net worth
above.

The year-on-year movement in net financial
worth, which is equal to total financial assets less
total liabilities, was mainly due to increased net debt,
as explained in the next column.

Net financial liabilities are total liabilities less
financial assets (excluding investments in other
sector entities). Net financial liabilities were

$184.9 billion at 30 June 2024, $2.1 billion lower
than the revised budget. This decrease primarily
reflects a higher than forecast net operating cash
surplus and a decrease in the State’s defined benefit
superannuation liability. The decrease was partially
offset by higher than expected payables.

Net debt represents gross debt less liquid financial
assets. Net debt of $133.2 billion at 30 June 2024
was $2.6 billion lower than the revised estimate in
the 2024-25 Budget. This improved result primarily
reflects a higher than forecast net operating cash
surplus.

The increase in net debt in 2023-24 of $18.2 billion
primarily reflects additional borrowings required to
finance the State’s capital program.

The net cash flows from operating activities
surplus of $2.6 billion was an improvement of

$2.2 billion compared with the $427 million surplus
forecast in the 2024-25 Budget. The improvement
from the revised budget was primarily driven by
lower than forecast payments on goods and services
and grants due to the timing of payments across
departments. There were also higher grant receipts
than forecast primarily due to local government
grants from the Commonwealth.

The cash deficit position in 2023-24 reflects the
sum of net cash flows from operating and investing
activities. The deficit position in 2023-24 was a

$2.5 billion improvement compared with the

$16.9 billion deficit forecast in the 2024-25 Budget,
primarily attributed to the improved net cash flows
from operating activities as discussed above.

2023-24 Financial Report
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Table 2.2 shows an operating deficit of $4.2 billion
in 2023-24 compared with the revised 2023-24
estimate of a deficit of $4.6 billion.

Table 2.2: Summary of operating statement ($ million)
2024 2024 Revised % revised 2023
actual revised variance variance actual

Revenue and income from transactions
Taxation 36 876 36921 (45) . 32350
Interest income 1761 1892 (131) (7) 1307
Dividends, income tax equivalent and rate equivalent income 2199 2342 (143) (6) 820
Sales of goods and services 6212 6421 (208) (3) 6263
Grants 41797 40990 806 2 40138
Other revenue and income 4210 3442 767 22 3842
Total revenue and income from transactions 93 055 92 008 1047 1 84720

Expenses from transactions
Employee expenses 36 035 35652 383 1 33629
Net superannuation interest expense 774 774 . . 719
Other superannuation 4062 3622 440 12 3760
Depreciation 4967 4897 70 1 4604
Interest expense 5639 5725 (87) (2) 3974
Grant expense 16 675 16 824 (150) (1) 19 053
Other operating expenses 29 127 29 149 (22) . 27 828
Total expenses from transactions 97 279 96 643 636 1 93 567
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance (4 223) (4 635) 411 (9) (8 847)
Total other economic flows included in net result (269) (446) 177 (40) (1 000)
Net result (4 493) (5 081) 588 (12) (9 847)
Revenue

Total revenue from transactions for the year was
$93.1 billion, which was §1 billion higher than the
revised estimate. This was $8.3 billion, or

9.8 per cent, higher compared with the previous
year, primarily reflecting an increase in taxation
revenue, grants, and dividends, income tax and rate
equivalent income.

The increase of $4.5 billion in taxation revenue
compared with 2022-23 is attributable to the
commencement of the COVID Debt Levy —
Payroll $10m+ and the COVID Debt Levy —
Landholdings in 2023-24, higher payroll tax revenue
collected due to a strong labour market and the
cessation of the New Jobs Tax Credit introduced in
the 2020-21 Budget, and an increase in land tax
reflecting strong post-pandemic site value growth.

The increase in taxation revenue, however, was
partially offset by a decline in land transfer duty,
primarily driven by the fall in the average duty
received per transaction.

Taxation revenue was consistent with the revised
budget estimate.

8 Chapter 2
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Table 2.3: Taxation

(S million)

2024 2024 Revised % revised 2023

actual revised variance variance actual
TAXES ON EMPLOYERS’ PAYROLL AND LABOUR FORCE
Payroll tax 8639 8 694 (55) (1) 7 392
COVID Debt Levy — Payroll $10m+ 934 910 23 3 .
Mental Health and Wellbeing Levy 1018 993 24 2 904
Total taxes on employers’ payroll and labour force 10590 10 598 (8) - 8296
TAXES ON IMMOVABLE PROPERTY
Land tax 5930 6121 (191) (3) 5367
COVID Debt Levy — Landholdings 1164 1190 (26) (2) .
Fire Services Property Levy 839 847 (7) (1) 792
Congestion levy 117 115 2 2 108
Metropolitan improvement levy 200 208 (8) (4) 206
Windfall gains tax 114 105 9 9 .
Total taxes on property 8365 8585 (221) (3) 6473
TAXES ON THE PROVISION OF GOODS AND SERVICES
Gambling taxes @
Public lotteries 689 680 9 1 621
Electronic gaming machines 1383 1373 10 1 1365
Casino 208 174 34 19 180
Racing and other sports betting 277 277 . . 287
Other 18 18 . . 17
Financial and capital transactions
Land transfer duty 8426 8278 149 2 8737
Metropolitan planning levy 20 20 . (2) 22
Financial accommodation levy 172 179 (7) (4) 156
Growth areas infrastructure contribution 255 328 (73) (22) 260
Levies on statutory corporations 173 173 . .- 173
Taxes on insurance 2076 2071 5 - 1875
Total taxes on the provision of goods and services 13 696 13571 125 1 13 694
TAXES ON THE USE OF GOODS AND PERFORMANCE OF ACTIVITIES
Motor vehicle taxes
Vehicle registration fees ) 2094 2100 (6) . 1946
Duty on vehicle registrations and transfers 1386 1360 26 2 1256
Liquor licence fees 31 30 1 3 21
Other 713 677 36 5 665
Total taxes on the use of goods and performance of activities 4225 4167 58 1 3888
Total taxation revenue 36 876 36921 (45) . 32350

Notes:

(a) The public lotteries, electronic gaming machines, casino, racing and other sports betting and other gambling taxes balances include gambling licence revenue to
30 June 2024 of 5202 million (30 June 2023: 5184 million) recognised under AASB 15. The balance of these items is recognised under AASB 1058.
(b) A total of $7.4 million was reimbursed to customers in 2023-24 who had previously paid the zero and low emissions vehicle road-user charge.

Dividends, income tax and rate equivalent income
of $2.2 billion was $143 million lower than the
revised budget and $1.4 billion higher compared
with the previous year. The increase from the prior
year is primarily due to the dividends received from
the TAC in 2023-24.

Interest income was $131 million lower than the
revised budget and $454 million higher when
compared with the previous year. The increase from
the prior year primarily reflects interest earned on
the Victorian Future Fund, and the result of an
increase in interest rates.

Revenue from the sale of goods and services was
$51 million lower than the 2022-23 outcome and
$208 million lower than the revised budget,
primarily due to a lower revenue from hospital
patient fees.

2023-24 Financial Report
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Grants revenue of $41.8 billion was $1.7 billion
higher than 2022-23. The significant increase is due
to an increase in GST revenue driven by the annual
growth in the national GST pool and growth in
Victoria’s population share, activity based health
tunding for the National Health Reform as well as
grants to non-government schools. This was
partially offset by a decrease in Commonwealth
grants to support the COVID-19 health response,
and lower capital grants for various transport
projects in 2023-24 due to the timing of project
milestones.

Grants were $806 million higher than the revised
budget. The increase is primarily due to the
Commonwealth’s decision to bring forward the
payment of some of the 2024-25 local government
grants to 2023-24 as well as the receipt of the
Commonwealth grant for the Housing Support
Program (Priority Works). This was partially offset
by lower than expected grants for the Early
Childhood Education National Partnership and the
Energy Bill Relief Payments.

Other revenue and income for 2023-24 was

$368 million higher than the 2022-23 outcome and
$767 million higher than the revised budget,
primarily driven by the fair value of assets and
services received free of charge primarily reflecting
adjustments for actual costs under the Metro Tunnel
service concession arrangement. The higher than
expected revenue in the health sector for staff
recovery costs, and revenue associated with the
Unclaimed Money Act 2008, have also contributed to
the increase from the revised budget.

Expenses

Total general government sector expenses increased
to $97.3 billion in 2023-24, an increase of $3.7 billion
(4 per cent) compared with the previous year. Total
expenses were $636 million higher than the revised
estimate in the 2024-25 Budjget. The increase in total
expenses compared with the previous year is
primarily due to higher employee expenses, interest
expense and other operating expenses, partly offset
by reduction in grant expenses.

Employee expenses of $36 billion for 2023-24 were
$383 million (1.1 per cent) higher than the revised
budget and $2.4 billion (7.2 per cent) higher than
2022-23. Compared with the previous year, this
increase is mainly due to increased spending on
service delivery in the health and education sectors.
The increase in employee expenses also reflects
increases in remuneration levels in line with
enterprise bargaining agreements.

The higher employee expenses for 2023-24
compared with the revised budget were primarily
due to additional supportt for critical hospital care,
and higher expenditure in the education sector
relating to government schools.

Other superannuation expenses of $4.1 billion for
2023-24 were $440 million higher than the revised
budget and $302 million higher than in 2022-23.
The increase compared with the previous year is
primarily due to higher employer contributions to
the defined contribution plans in the health and
education sectors reflecting an increase in employee
expenses, as explained above, along with an increase
in the compulsory superannuation guarantee
contribution rate from 1 July 2023.

Depreciation expense increased by $363 million
from the previous year to $5 billion. This increase
was primarily due to increased depreciation in the
transport and health sectors due to the completion
of capital projects and the impact of asset
revaluations in June 2023 on the 2023-24
depreciation expense.

Interest expense of $5.6 billion for 2023-24 was
$87 million lower than the revised budget.
Compared with the previous year, interest expense
increased by $1.7 billion, reflecting additional
borrowings to finance the State’s capital program
and an increase in the interest rates on borrowings.
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Grant expenses of $16.7 billion were $150 million
lower than the revised budget and $2.4 billion lower
than in 2022-23. The decrease compared with the
previous year was primarily due to the payments in
2022-23 for WorkSafe’s financial sustainability
initiative and the $250 Power Saving Bonus
initiative in the prior yeat. Also driving the decrease
was a reduction in grants for housing and the
recognition of grants to local government associated
with the October 2022 floods in the prior year. This
was partially offset by an increase in grants
associated with increased Commonwealth grants for
non-government schools.

Other operating expenses in 2023-24 were
$29.1 billion which was consistent with the revised
budget estimate.

Compared with the previous year, other operating
expenses increased by $1.3 billion. This includes the
$380 million settlement relating to the withdrawal
from the 2026 Commonwealth Games between the
State of Victoria and the Commonwealth Games
parties (the Commonwealth Games Federation, the
Commonwealth Games Federation Partnerships
and Commonwealth Games Australia), energy bill
relief concession payments which commenced in
2023-24, as well as an increase in expenses
associated with the redress schemes in the justice
and the family and children portfolios, including the
upfront expense recognition for the Victorian
Redress for historical abuse and neglect in
institutional care.

Other economic flows included in the
net result

The net result differs from the net result from
transactions due to other economic flows, which
include revaluation gains and losses recognised for
the period.

The net result from transactions is the Government’s
operating surplus measure for the purposes of its
fiscal strategy.

Other economic flows included in the net result for
2023-24 totalled a net revaluation loss of $269 million.
This was $177 million lower than the revised budget
and an improvement of $730 million compared with
2022-23. This improvement includes the capital gains
from the Victorian Future Fund.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

Table 2.4 shows the general government sector net
assets increased by $3.1 billion to $189.9 billion in
2023-24. This was $12.4 billion (7.0 per cent) higher
than expected in the 2023-24 revised budget.

Table 2.4: Summary balance sheet

Assets
Financial assets (excluding investment in other sector entities)
Investment in other sector entities:
Public non-financial corporations
Public financial corporations
Non-financial assets

($ million)

2024 Revised 2024 Actual 2023
actual variance revised movement actual
46 899 3872 43 027 7 812 39086
83 045 691 82354 2 165 80 880
15134 4060 11074 (29) 15162
276 546 5560 270985 20484 256 062

Total assets
Liabilities

421623 14183 407 440 30433 391190

Superannuation 18 226 (1208) 19435 (678) 18 904
Borrowings 167 309 511 166 798 25020 142 289
Other liabilities 46 229 2473 43 756 3015 43214
Total liabilities 231764 1776 229 988 27 357 204 407
Net assets 189 859 12 407 177 452 3076 186 783
Assets of the TAC due to favourable financial market

Financial assets in Table 2.4 include cash,
investments, loans and placements. The value of
financial assets held by the general government
sector increased by $7.8 billion during the year. The
increase is mainly due to the net cashflows from
operating activities surplus of $2.6 billion. The
increase also reflects an increase in advances paid to
the North East Link State Tolling Corporation
reflecting the North East Link financing
arrangements and an increase in receivables
primarily driven by land taxes, including the new
COVID Debt Levy — Landholdings.

Non-financial assets increased by $20.5 billion
during 2023-24, mainly due to the Government’s
investment in infrastructure and the revaluation of
assets primarily in the health sector.

General government investments in other sector
entities increased by $2.1 billion in the year. This
was mainly due to a formal asset revaluation and
additional capital investment in Homes Victoria.

Total assets were $14.2 billion higher than the
revised budget. This was primarily due to the
revaluation of assets primarily in the health sector,
and an increase in general government investments
in other sector entities due to the better than
expected net asset position of the TCV resulting
from a lower than expected mark-to-market
revaluation loss and realised gains on bond
buy-backs, as well as an improved net asset position

performance and higher discount rates, partially
offset by the impact of higher inflation
expectations. Also driving the increase were higher
than expected financial assets mainly relating to the
higher than forecast net cashflows from operating
activities surplus.

Liabilities

Total liabilities as at 30 June 2024 were $231.8 billion,
$27.4 billion higher than the 2022-23 outcome and
$1.8 billion higher than the revised budget. The
increase compared with the revised budget mainly
reflects an increase in payables, including for accrued
local government grants received from the
Commonwealth in June, and higher borrowings. This
was partially offset by a decrease in the State’s defined
benefit superannuation liability due to an increase in
the bond yields that underlie the key superannuation
valuation assumption, partially offset by lower than

expected investment returns on superannuation assets
between 31 March 2024 and 30 June 2024.

The increase in total liabilities when compared with
the 2022-23 outcome was primarily due to
additional borrowings to finance the State’s capital
program.
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CASH FLOWS

Table 2.5 outlines the use of cash resources.

It summarises cash generated through the
operations of government departments and other
general government sector agencies, and how the
cash has been invested in fixed assets.

The net cash flows from operating activities surplus
of $2.6 billion was an improvement of §2.2 billion
compared with the $427 million surplus forecast in
the 2024-25 Budget. The improvement from the
revised budget was primarily driven by lower than
forecast payments on goods and services and grants
due to the timing of payments across departments.
There were also higher grant receipts than forecast
primarily due to the Commonwealth bringing
forward some of the 2024-25 local government
grants which were received on 28 June 2024.

Compared with the previous yeat, the net cash
flows from operating activities decreased by

$1.6 billion from a surplus of $4.3 billion. This was
primarily driven by the upfront proceeds of

$7.9 billion received in 2022-23 from the VicRoads
Modernisation joint venture, partially offset by the
year-on-year improvement in net result from
transactions.

A detailed cash flow statement is provided in
Chapter 4.

Table 2.5: Application of cash resources ($ million)
2023 2024 2024
actual actual revised
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance (8 847) (4223) (4 635)
Add back: non-cash revenues and expenses (net) @ 13 097 6 846 5062
Net cash flows from operating activities 4250 2623 427
Less:
Net investment in fixed assets
Purchases of non-financial assets 16 273 17 375 17 860
Net cash flows from investments in financial assets for policy purposes 1625 2331 2479
Sales of non-financial assets (325) (319) (537)
Net investment in fixed assets 17573 19 387 19 802
Leases and service concession arrangements 2083 2 888 2629
Other movements (330) (1 455) (1173)
Decrease/(increase) in net debt (15 077) (18 197) (20 830)

Note:
(a)

required to be recognised in the operating statement for the respective year.

Includes depreciation, prepayments and movements in the unfunded superannuation liability and liability for employee benefits, as well as operating cash flows not
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GOVERNMENT INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT

Infrastructure supports delivery of high-quality
services to the community. It has a significant and
ongoing impact on state and national productivity
and generates significant direct and indirect
employment and wider economic benefits.

Government infrastructure investment (GII), which
includes general government net infrastructure
investment (net of asset sales) and estimated
construction related cash outflows for Partnerships
Victoria projects, was $24.2 billion in 2023-24.

This was higher than the revised budget of

$24 billion published in the 2024-25 Budget, driven
by high levels of activity and the fair value of assets
and setvices received free of charge under the
Metro Tunnel service concession arrangement
reflecting adjustments for actual costs and
in-principle alignment on contract matters for this
project. Compared with the previous year, GII
increased by $2.4 billion, largely due to extensive
capital infrastructure investment in the transport,
education, housing and health sectors.

The Government’s infrastructure scorecard 2023-24

Major projects completed during the year include:
e A Pathway to More Acute Mental Health Beds
e Additional VLocity trains

e Building a world-class Geelong Performing Arts
Centre

Major projects under procutement or in progress include:
e 85 by 2025 (Level Crossing Removal)

e Additional acute mental health beds in regional
Victoria

e Austin Hospital Emergency Department Upgrade

e Ballarat Health Services expansion and redevelopment
e Barwon Women’s and Children’s Hospital

e  Best Start, Best Life: Infrastructure

e Big Housing Build

e  (Casey Hospital Emergency Department Expansion
Project

e City Loop fire and safety upgrade (Stage 2) and
intruder alarm

e Community hospitals to give patients the best care
e Courts case management system

e E-Class Tram Infrastructure Program

e FHastern Freeway Upgrade®

e Enrolment Growth and New Schools
(Land acquisition for new schools, New schools
construction, Relocatable Buildings Program, School
upgrades: growth)

e Forensic Mental Health Expansion Project
(Thomas Embling Hospital)

e TFrankston Hospital Redevelopment
e Gippsland Line Upgrade Stage 1
e High Capacity Metro Trains

e Homes Victoria Ground Lease Model Project 1

e Homes Victoria Ground Lease Model Project 2

Kardinia Park Stadium Stage 5 Redevelopment
Princes Highway East Duplication Stage 3

South Dynon train maintenance facility Stage 1

Hospital Infrastructure Delivery Fund
Kananook Train Maintenance Facility Stage 2
M80 Ring Road upgrade

M80 Ring Road Upgrade
(part of North East Link packages)®

Melbourne Arts Precinct Transformation Phase One
Melton Line Upgrade

Men’s prison system capacity

Metro Tunnel

Monash Medical Centre Redevelopment
More VLocity trains

Murray Basin Rail Project

New Footscray Hospital

New Melton Hospital

New metropolitan trains

New trains for Sunbury

New Wyndham Law Court

Next generation computer aided dispatch system for
Triple Zero

Next Generation Trams

North East Link Connections®

North East Link — Primary Package (Tunnels)
Northern Hospital Redevelopment

Nyaal Banyul Geelong Convention and Event Centre

Public Housing Renewal Program
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Public Housing Revitalisation Program
Public transport ticketing asset renewal

Redevelopment of the Royal Melbourne Hospital and
Royal Women’s Hospital

Regional Housing Fund

Road Blitz to Get Families Home Sooner and Safer
(Barwon Heads Road Upgrade Stage 2)

Shepparton Line Upgrade — Stage 3

Social Housing Accelerator Program

South Dynon Train Maintenance Facility Stage 2
Suburban Rail Loop — Airport

Suburban Rail Loop East

The Government’s infrastructure scorecard 2023-24 (continued)

Suburban Roads Upgrade

Technology and resources to support Victotia’s fines
system

Tram infrastructure upgrades

Twenty-five more level crossings by 2030
Warrnambool Base Hospital redevelopment
Waurn Ponds Track Duplication — Stage 2

West Gate Tunnel

Western Highway duplication — Ballarat to Stawell
Western Rail Plan

Note:
(a) Previously published as part of North East Link (State and Freeway Packages).
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CHAPTER 3 —BROADER PUBLIC SECTOR OUTCOME

This chapter sets out the financial results of the

*  The public non-financial corporations (PNFC) broader public sector for 2023-24, comprising:

sector reported a net surplus from transactions
of $1 million in 2023-24. Once losses reported
as other economic flows are included, the PNFC

sector’s net result declines to a deficit of
$3.2 billion in 2023-24.

The net debt of the non-financial public sector
(NEPS), which includes both the general
government and the PNFC sectors, has
increased from $133.5 billion at 30 June 2023 to
$155.3 billion at 30 June 2024. This increase is
predominantly due to additional borrowings to
fund the general government sector and PNFC
infrastructure programs.

The public financial corporations (PFC) sector
reported a net deficit from transactions of

$1.9 billion in 2023-24. Once other economic
flows, which primarily relate to capital gains on
the investments held by the State’s insurance
agencies and revaluations, are included the PFC

sector’s net result improves to a surplus of
$1.3 billion in 2023-24.

Combining the above, the State reported a net
result deficit of $5.5 billion in 2023-24.

the NFPS, which consolidates the general
government, discussed in Chapter 2, and the
PNFC sector. The PNFC sector comprises a
wide range of entities that provide services
primarily funded by user charges and fees. The
main services provided by PNFCs include water,
housing and transport.

the State of Victoria, which consolidates the
NFPS and the PFC sector. PFCs can be
categorised into two broad types: those that
provide services to the general public and
businesses (such as WorkSafe Victoria, the
Transport Accident Commission, Breakthrough
Victoria and State Trustees Limited) and those
that predominantly provide financial services to
other government entities (such as the Victorian
Funds Management Corporation, the Treasury
Corporation of Victoria (TCV) and the Victorian
Managed Insurance Authority).
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PUBLIC NON-FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS SECTOR

Operating statement

Tables 3.1 and 3.2 summarise the operating
statement and financial position for the PNFC
sector. These figures are derived from the audited
tinancial statements in Chapter 4.

Table 3.1: 2023-24 summary operating statement — PNFC sector @ ($ million)
2024 2024 Revised % revised 2023
actual revised variance variance actual
Revenue and income from transactions
Interest income 120 36 84 237 85
Dividend income 46 30 16 53 20
Sales of goods and services 7 584 7612 (28) . 7171
Grants 2495 2541 (46) (2) 2742
Other revenue and income 835 700 135 19 815
Total revenue and income from transactions 11079 10919 161 1 10832
Expenses from transactions
Employee expenses 1961 1868 94 5 1768
Superannuation (®) 197 200 (3) (2) 175
Depreciation 2120 2081 39 2 1975
Interest expense 944 958 (14) (1) 865
Other operating expenses 4924 5122 (198) (4) 5066
Grant expense 686 665 22 3 654
Other property expenses 245 254 (9) (4) 233
Total expenses from transactions 11 078 11148 (70) (1) 10 735
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance 1 (230) 231 (101) 97
Total other economic flows included in net result (3179) (2 058) (1121) 54 (3297)
Net result (3178) (2 288) (890) 39 (3 200)
Notes:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest million and may not add up to the totals.

(b) Comprises superannuation interest expense and other superannuation expenses.

Revenue

Total revenue and income from transactions for the

PNFC sector was $11.1 billion in 2023-24 which was
$161 million higher than the revised budget.

Total revenue and income from transactions for the
PNFC sector in 2023-24 was $247 million higher
than 2022-23, largely driven by increased revenue
across the water sector reflecting increased water
usage due to lower rainfall.

Expenses

Total expenses from transactions for the PNFC
sector was $11.1 billion in 2023-24, which was

$70 million lower than the revised budget. The
largest contributor to the reduction was lower than
anticipated maintenance costs incurred by V/Line
Passenger Corporation.

Total expenses from transactions for the PNFC
sector in 2023-24 was $343 million higher compared
with 2022-23 partially due to the commencement of
new employee enterprise agreements at the water
corporations, increased staffing levels across the
PNFC sector, and higher depreciation reported
within the water sector and Homes Victoria.

Net result from transactions

The PNFC sector’s net result from transactions in
2023-24 was $231 million better than the revised
budget.

When combined, the higher increase in expenses
compared to revenue resulted in the PNFC sector’s
net result from transactions declining from a surplus
of $97 million in 2022-23 to a surplus of $1 million
in 2023-24.
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Net result and other economic flows

The net result from transactions does not include
some significant drivers of the PNFC sector’s
performance such as the revaluation of land,
buildings, infrastructure and the derecognition of the
rail assets under AASB 16 Leases. In accordance with
Australian accounting standards, these items are
disclosed as other economic flows and included in
the net result.

The losses from total other economic flows included
in net result reduced by $118 million compared with
2022-23, largely reflecting the derecognition of the
rail assets under AASB 16 Leases at nominal value.
Refer to Note 5.2 in Chapter 4 of this report for
turther detail on this arrangement.

Financial position

The losses from total other economic flows included
in net result was $1.1 billion greater than the revised
estimates primarily due to larger rail asset
derecognition than originally forecast.

Overall, this resulted in the PNFC sector reporting a
net result deficit of $3.2 billion in 2023-24.

Table 3.2: 2023-24 summary balance sheet — PNFC sector @) ($ billion)
2024 Revised 2024 Actual 2023
actual variance revised movement actual
Assets
Financial assets ® 5.0 0.8 4.2 0.2 4.9
Non-financial assets © 127.6 (0.5) 128.0 5.6 121.9
Total assets 132.6 0.3 132.3 5.8 126.8
Liabilities
Borrowings 23.3 (0.7) 24.0 19 21.4
Other provisions 12.1 . 12.1 . 12.1
Other liabilities (@ 14.2 0.4 13.8 1.7 12.5
Total liabilities 49.5 (0.4) 49.9 3.6 45.9
Net assets 83.0 0.7 82.4 2.2 80.9
Notes:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest hundred million and may not add up to the totals.

(b) Financial assets include cash and deposits, advances paid, investments, loans and placements, receivables and investments accounted for using the equity method.
(c) Non-financial assets include land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets.

(d) Other liabilities consist of payables, employee benefits, deposits held and advances received.

Table 3.2 shows that PNFC sector net assets
increased by $2.2 billion to $83 billion at

30 June 2024. This was $691 million higher than
expected in the revised budget.

The increase in total assets of $5.8 billion compared
with 2022-23 is primarily driven by capital
expenditure by the water corporations during the

year, the addition of service concession assets for the

North East Link State Tolling Corporation and the
Big Housing Build for Homes Victoria. Liabilities
increased by $3.6 billion compared with 2022-23
primarily due to an increase in borrowings incurred
by the water corporations of $1.6 billion and by the
North East Link State Tolling Corporation of

$237 million to fund the construction of the North
East Link project. Other liabilities increased by
$1.7 billion primarily due to advances received from
the State by the North East Link State Tolling
Corporation to fund construction costs and other
operating activities.
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FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE NON-FINANCIAL PUBLIC SECTOR

The sustainability of the NFPS is an important
consideration for credit rating agencies, in particular
the level of net debt, net financial liabilities and the
State’s capacity to setvice these liabilities.

Table 3.3 shows NFPS net debt of $155.3 billion at
30 June 2024. This compares with $133.5 billion the
previous year and a revised budget of $159.4 billion
in the 2024-25 Budget.

The ratio of NFPS net debt to gross state product
(GSP) was 25.5 per cent at 30 June 2024 compared
with 23.5 per cent at 30 June 2023. The increase in
NFPS net debt was predominantly due to additional
borrowings to fund the Government’s infrastructure
program. NEFPS net debt to GSP was lower than the
revised budget of 26.2 per cent primarily due to a
higher than forecast net operating cash surplus in the
general government sector.

Table 3.3: Non-financial public sector net debt and net financial liabilities as at 30 June @ ($ billion)
2024 Revised 2024 Actual 2023
actual variance revised movement actual
Assets

Cash and deposits 16.6 2.8 13.8 (5.4) 219
Advances paid 0.5 0.1 0.4 (0.4) 0.9
Investments, loans and placements 15.7 0.9 14.8 11.0 4.7
Total 32.8 3.8 29.0 53 27.5

Liabilities
Deposits held and advances received 1.8 0.2 1.6 0.1 1.6
Borrowings 186.3 (0.5) 186.8 26.9 159.4
Total 188.1 (0.3) 188.4 27.1 161.0
Net debt 155.3 (.1) 159.4 21.8 133.5
Superannuation 18.2 (1.2) 19.4 (0.7) 18.9
Net debt plus superannuation liabilities 173.5 (5.3) 178.8 21.1 152.4
Other liabilities (net) ®) 43.0 1.7 41.3 1.7 41.3
Net financial liabilities (© 216.5 (3.6) 220.1 22.8 193.7
(per cent)
Net debt to GSP (@ 25.5 26.2 23,5
Net debt plus superannuation liabilities to GSP (@) 28.5 29.4 26.8
Net financial liabilities to GSP ) 35.6 36.2 34.0

Notes:
(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest hundred million and may not add up to the totals.

(b) Other liabilities include other employee entitlements and provisions and other non-equity liabilities, less other non-equity financial assets.

(c) Net financial liabilities are total liabilities less financial assets (excluding investments in other sector entities).
(d) The ratios to GSP may vary from publications year to year due to revisions to the Australian Bureau of Statistics data.

20 Chapter 3

2023-24 Financial Report



Indicators of financial condition

Table 3.4 shows the key indicators of financial
sustainability for the NFPS.

The operating cash flow surplus to revenue ratio is
an indication of the extent to which the cash
generated from operations can be used to fund
infrastructure. This ratio decreased from 6.9 per cent
in 2022-23 to 3.9 per cent in 2023-24. This was
largely due to a $2.4 billion dectease in net cash
flows from operating activities which primarily
related to the general government sector and is
discussed in the previous chapter.

Table 3.4: Indicators of financial condition for NFPS (@
2016 2017

Operating cash flow surplus to revenue 11.7 24.4

Gross debt to revenue @ 76.8 64.7
Interest expense to revenue 4.4 3.9

The gross debt to revenue ratio, which indicates the
State’s overall debt burden, increased to

188.4 per cent as at 30 June 2024 due to an increase
in borrowings.

The NFPS interest expense to revenue ratio,

a measure of the State’s debt service burden, has
increased since 2021-22 due to increases in debt and
the higher interest rate environment.

(per cent)

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
8.7 12.4 (22)  (13.9) (7.8) 6.9 3.9
69.8 755 1101 1441 1506 1764  188.4
3.7 3.7 3.9 4.0 3.7 4.7 6.1

Note:
(a) Gross debt comprises borrowings, deposits held and advances received.

Infrastructure investment

Net cash flows from investments in non-financial
assets includes $17.1 billion invested by the general
government sector and $5.4 billion in the PNFC
sectot.

Infrastructure investment in the PNFC sector
included:

e the upgrade and renewal of water and sewer
assets by the Melbourne metropolitan water
corporations. This included the Melbourne
Water Corporation’s 5 West Nutrient Removal
Plant at the Western Treatment Plant to help
protect Port Phillip Bay’s biodiversity and Yan
Yean to Bald Hill Pipeline and Pump Station to
provide water for the growing North, Yarra
Valley Water’s Waste to Energy Project 2 and
Rankin Street Branch Sewer Project, Southeast
Water’s digital meter rollout and Fishermans
Bend Water Recycling Plant project and Greater
Western Water’s Gisborne Recycled Water Plant
Upgrade and CBD Sewer Augmentation Stage 3
Elizabeth Street

e the upgrade and renewal of water and sewer
assets in regional Victoria

o the Homes Victoria Big Housing Build program
which is investing in social and affordable
housing, delivering 12 000 new dwellings

e transport infrastructure primarily related to the
North East Link State Tolling Corporation’s
investment in the North East Link — Primary
Package (Tunnels).
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PUBLIC FINANCIAL CORPORATIONS SECTOR

Operating statement

Tables 3.5 and 3.6 summarise the operating
statement and financial position for the PFC sector.
These figures are derived from the audited financial
statements in Chapter 4.

Table 3.5: 2023-24 summary operating statement — PFC sector ($ million)
2024 2024 Revised % revised 2023
actual revised variance variance actual
Revenue and income from transactions
Interest income 5332 5626 (294) (5) 3583
Dividend income 2296 2193 103 5 2311
Sales of goods and services 8098 8 050 48 1 6164
Grants . . . . 377
Other revenue and income 24 23 1 3 25
Total revenue and income from transactions 15 750 15 892 (142) (1) 12 460
Expenses from transactions
Employee expenses 536 533 3 1 509
Other superannuation 55 54 1 1 49
Depreciation 88 84 4 5 88
Interest expense 5171 5193 (22) . 3445
Other operating expenses 11 146 12 526 (1380) (11) 10773
Grant expense 139 149 (9) (6) 127
Other property expenses 554 36 519 1457 672
Total expenses from transactions 17 690 18 575 (885) (5) 15663
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance (1940) (2683) 743 (28) (3203)
Total other economic flows included in net result 3260 (1517) 4777 (315) 6488
Net result 1320 (4 200) 5520 (131) 3285
Note:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest million and may not add up to the totals.

Revenue

Total revenue from transactions for the PFC sector
was $15.8 billion in 2023-24. This is $142 million
lower than the revised budget and $3.3 billion, or
26.4 per cent, higher than in 2022-23.

As shown in Table 3.5, the TCV’s interest income
was $294 million lower than the revised budget.
However, the impact this had on the PFC sector’s
total revenue for 2023-24 was partly offset by
dividends which were $103 million higher than the
revised budget. This was primarily due to stronger
than expected investment market returns on the
assets held by the State’s insurance agencies.

Compared with 2022-23, the increase in revenue
from transactions is primarily attributable to higher
interest income for the TCV and an increase in the
sale of goods and services due to WorkSafe
Victoria’s average premium rate increasing from an
average of 1.3 per cent of remuneration in 2022-23
to an average of 1.8 per cent in 2023-24.
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Expenses

Total expenses from transactions for the PFC sector
were $17.7 billion in 2023-24. This was $885 million
lower than the revised budget due to lower than
expected claims expenses for the State’s insurance
agencies, which are reported as other operating
expenses, partly offset by higher than expected tax
expenses for the TAC and WorkSafe Victoria, both
of which form part of other property expenses.

Total expenses from transactions for the PFC sector
were $2 billion, or 12.9 per cent, higher in 2023-24
compared with the previous year. This increase was
largely due to increased claims expenses for the
State’s insurance agencies and a higher interest
expense for the TCV.

Net result from transactions

Opverall, the increase in expenses was lower than the
increase in revenue such that the PFC sectot’s net
result from transactions improved from a deficit of
$3.2 billion in 2022-23 to a deficit of $1.9 billion in
2023-24.

Net result and other economic flows

The net result from transactions does not include
some significant drivers of the PFC sector’s
performance, such as revaluations and capital gains
on the investments held by the State’s insurance
agencies. In accordance with Australian accounting
standards, these items are disclosed as other
economic flows. In 2023-24, other economic flows
for the PFC sector were positive $3.3 billion and
primarily arose due to:

e anet revaluation gain that arose due to the
combined impact of changes in claims
assumptions, as well as increases in the discount
rates (positive) and inflation rates (negative) that
are used to value the liabilities of the State’s
insurance agencies

e unrealised gains on the investments held by the
State’s insurance agencies due to favourable
investment market performance

e the release of risk margins and claims handling
expenses.

Overall, this resulted in the PFC sector reporting a
net surplus of $1.3 billion in 2023-24.
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Financial position

Table 3.6: 2023-24 summary balance sheet — PFC sector (@ (S billion)
2024 Revised 2024 Actual 2023
actual variance revised movement actual
Assets
Financial assets () 224.6 5.4 219.2 32.3 192.3
Non-financial assets (© 3.6 (0.6) 4.2 (0.1) 3.7
Total assets 228.2 4.8 2234 32.2 195.9
Liabilities
Borrowings 160.7 0.1 160.7 28.4 132.3
Other provisions 50.4 (1.8) 52.1 3.4 47.0
Other liabilities (@ 3.4 0.7 2.7 0.2 3.2
Total liabilities 214.5 (1.0) 215.5 32.0 182.5
Net assets 13.7 5.8 7.9 0.3 134
Notes:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest hundred million and may not add up to the totals.

(b) Financial assets include cash and deposits, advances paid, investments, loans and placements, receivables and investments accounted for using the equity method.
(c) Non-financial assets include land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets.

(d) Other liabilities consist of payables, employee benefits, deposits held and advances received.

Table 3.6 shows that PFC sector net assets increased
to $13.7 billion at 30 June 2024, a $261 million
increase compared with 30 June 2023 and

$5.8 billion higher than the revised budget.

The increase in net assets since 30 June 2023 is
primarily due to an increase in the TCV loans
receivable from the NFPS and an increase in the
investments held by the TCV and the State’s
insurance agencies. However, this was partly offset
by an increase in the TCV borrowings and increases
in the outstanding claims liabilities of the State’s
insurance agencies.

Relative to the revised budget, the increase in net
assets is predominantly attributable to higher than
expected investments and lower-than-expected
outstanding claims liabilities for the State’s insurance
agencies, partly offset by lower than expected loans
receivable by the TCV from the NFPS.

The reported net result and net asset position of the
PFC sector are impacted by the accounting
convention adopted for the TCV, whereby its fixed
interest rate loans to government clients are
measured at book value while its borrowings are
reported at market value.

This approach enables the TCV’s loans to be
consolidated with the borrowings of the general
government and PNFC sectors but, for the PFC
sector in isolation, creates a mismatch between the
value of the TCV’s assets (which ate at book value)
and its liabilities (which are at market value).

This difference, which is estimated to be around
$12.5 billion at 30 June 2024, is eliminated when the
TCV’s loans to government clients are consolidated
in the whole of state accounts. This difference is not
apparent in the TCV’s own accounts as both assets
and liabilities are reported at market value.

It is important to note the sensitivity of the PFC
sector’s net asset position to changes in
Commonwealth Government bond yields which, in
accordance with Australian accounting standards,
underlie the discount rates used to value the
insurance agencies’ outstanding claims liabilities.

In isolation, an increase in the relevant bond yields
between 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024 reduced the
value of insurance agencies’ claims liabilities.
Changes in claims assumptions also reduced the
TAC’s and WorkSafe’s insurance claims liabilities.
However, overall, insurance claims liabilities
increased in 2023-24 due to the ongoing accruing of
claims.
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STATE OF VICTORIA

Operating statement

Tables 3.7 and 3.8 summarise the operating
statement and financial position for the State of
Victoria. These figures are derived from the audited

tinancial statements in Chapter 4.

Table 3.7: 2023-24 summary operating statement — State of Victoria ($ million)
2024 2024 Revised % revised 2023
actual revised variance variance actual

Revenue and income from transactions

Taxation 36324 36398 (73) (0) 31852
Interest income 2157 2 340 (183) (8) 1502
Dividends 2 485 2562 (77) (3) 2 404
Sales of goods and services 19 885 19 985 (99) . 17 943
Grants 41686 40912 774 2 40 063
Other revenue and income 5068 4165 903 22 4681
Total revenue and income from transactions 107 605 106 361 1245 1 98 445
Expenses from transactions
Employee expenses 37 467 37 150 317 1 35168
Net superannuation interest expense 775 778 (3) . 721
Other superannuation 4312 3872 441 11 3982
Depreciation 8279 8181 98 1 7 652
Interest expense 6722 6719 3 0 4778
Other operating expenses 43787 45 227 (1 440) (3) 42 415
Grant expense 14721 14 866 (145) (1) 16 468
Total expenses from transactions 116 064 116 792 (728) (1) 111184
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance (8 459) (10432) 1973 (19) (12 739)
Total other economic flows included in net result 2919 (2 566) 5484 (214) 5101
Net result (5 540) (12 997) 7 457 (57) (7 638)
Note:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest million and may not add up to the totals.

Table 3.7 shows the State recorded a net deficit from
transactions of $8.5 billion in 2023-24 compared
with a deficit of $12.7 billion in 2022-23. This
improvement was largely driven by the general
government sector, as discussed in the previous
chapter, and the PFC sector, as discussed earlier in

this chapter.

Once other economic flows are included, the State’s
net result improved from a deficit of $7.6 billion in
2022-23 to deficit of $5.5 billion in 2023-24. The key
reason the State’s net result improved by less than
the net result from transactions is lower other
economic flows for the PFC sector in 2023-24
compared with 2022-23.
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Chart3.1: Revenue contributions by sector @
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Note:

(a) The State of Victoria will not equal the sum of the general government, PNFC and PFC sectors due to inter-sector eliminations.

Financial position

Table 3.8 shows that the State’s net assets have
increased from $234.2 billion in 2022-23 to
$239.9 billion in 2023-24. While total assets
increased by $40.9 billion, this was largely offset
by a $35.1 billion increase in liabilities.

The State’s financial assets increased from
$103.7 billion in 2022-23 to $116.5 billion in
2023-24 and non-financial assets, including
infrastructure, increased from $418.1 billion in
2022-23 to $446.2 billion in 2023-24.

The increase in financial assets is primarily due to an
increase in the investments held by the general
government sector, which is discussed in the
previous chapter, the State’s insurance agencies and
the TCV. The increase in non-financial assets is
mainly due to the Government’s investment in
infrastructure and the revaluation of health sector
assets.

The increase in the State’s liabilities is largely due to
borrowings increasing from $165 billion in 2022-23
to $193.7 billion in 2023-24. This increase in
borrowings is mainly due to incremental borrowings
by the TCV to fund the Government’s infrastructure
investment program.

Other liabilities also increased, from $103.8 billion in
2022-23 to $110.9 billion by 2023-24. This increase is
predominantly driven by higher payables due to
accrued grants expense relating to local government
grants received from the Commonwealth in June and
increases in the outstanding claims liabilities of the
State’s insurance agencies.
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Table 3.8: 2023-24 summary balance sheet — State of Victoria (a) ($ billion)

2024 Revised 2024 Actual 2023
actual variance revised movement actual
Assets
Financial assets () 116.5 11.3 105.3 12.8 103.7
Non-financial assets () 446.2 6.1 440.0 28.1 418.1
Total assets 562.7 17.4 545.3 40.9 521.8
Liabilities
Superannuation 18.2 (1.2) 19.4 (0.7) 18.9
Borrowings 193.7 0.7 193.0 28.8 165.0
Other liabilities (@ 110.9 1.6 109.2 7.1 103.8
Total liabilities 322.8 1.1 321.7 35.1 287.6
Net assets 239.9 16.3 223.7 5.7 234.2
Notes:

(a) Figures in this table are subject to rounding to the nearest hundred million and may not add up to the totals.

(b) Financial assets include cash and deposits, advances paid, investments, loans and placements, receivables and investments accounted for using the equity method.
(c) Non-financial assets include land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment and other non-financial assets.

(d) Other liabilities consist of payables, employee benefits, deposits held and advances received, contract liabilities and other provisions.

Chart 3.2: Net assets by sector as at 30 June @
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Note:
(a) General government net assets exclude investments in other sector entities which means that the data for the State of Victoria will not equal the sum of the general
government, PNFC and PFC sectors.
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REPORT STRUCTURE

The Treasurer of Victoria presents the Annual Financial Report of the State of Victoria (the State) for the
tinancial year ended 30 June 2024 as follows:

Report Report of the Auditor-General Page 33
Certifications .
Certification by the Treasurer and the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and Page 40
Finance
Financial Consolidated comprehensive operating statement Page 41
statements Consolidated balance sheet Page 42
Consolidated cash flow statement Page 43
Consolidated statement of changes in equity Page 45
Notes to the 1. About this report Page 46
financial Basis of preparation including key judgements, estimates and assumptions
statements

Compliance information
2. How funds are raised Page 49

Revenue and income recognised from taxes, grants, sales of goods and services and
other sources

3. How funds are spent Page 54
Operating expenses of the State and capital spending on infrastructure and other assets
4. Major assets and investments Page 62

Land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment, other non-financial assets,
and investments held in associates and joint arrangements

5. Financing state operations Page 76

Borrowings, interest expense, leases, service concession arrangements, cash flow
information, investments held and commitments

6. Other assets and liabilities Page 96
Other key asset and liability balances
7. Risks, contingencies and valuation judgements Page 109

Financial instruments, contingent assets and liabilities, and fair value determination
disclosures

8. Comparison against budget and the public account Page 138

Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes, and
public account disclosures

9. Other disclosures Page 167

Additional disclosures including disaggregated information, funds under management,
related party transactions, subsequent events and controlled entities.
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PUBLIC SECTOR TERMS EXPLAINED

The State of Victoria reporting entity includes government departments, public non-financial corporations
(PNFCs), public financial corporations (PFCs) and other government-controlled entities. The State and most of
its controlled entities are not-for-profit entities.

p
State of Victoria ]
\
4 T N\
Non-financial public sector
\ J
e N N
Public non-financial Public financial
General government ) .
corporations corporations

-
.
.

T T T

Departments Statutory authorities and other agencies controlled by government

The State controlled entities are classified into several sectors according to the System of National Accounts
(refer to Note 9.9), as follows:

Sector Explanation

General government sector The Victorian general government sector includes all government departments, offices and
other bodies engaged in providing services free of charge or at prices significantly below their
cost of production. The general government sector is not a separate entity but represents a
sector within the State of Victoria reporting entity, and is reported in accordance with
AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

The primary function of entities within the general government sector is to provide general
government services that are mainly non-market in nature and are largely for collective
consumption by the community, or that involve the transfer or redistribution of income.
These services are financed mainly through taxes, other compulsory levies and user charges.

Public non--financial The primary function of entities in the PNFC sector is to produce goods and services (of a
corporations (PNFC) sector non-financial nature) for sale in the marketplace at economically significant prices.

Public financial The primary function of entities in the PFC sector is to provide financial intermediation
corporations (PFC) sector  services or auxiliary financial services and have one or more of the following characteristics:

e they perform a central borrowing function or they provide insurance services
e they accept call, term or savings deposits

e they have the ability to incur liabilities and acquire financial assets in the market on their
own account.

Non-financial public sector The NFPS sector represents the consolidation of the general government and PNFC sectors.
(NFPS)

Note 9.1 disaggregates information about these sectors. Disclosing this information assists users of the financial
statements to determine the effects of differing activities on the financial performance and position of the State.
It also assists users to identify the resources used in providing a range of goods and services, and the extent to
which the State has recovered the costs of those resources from revenues attributable to those activities.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL

Independent Auditor’s Report

VAGO

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

To the Treasurer of the State of Victoria

Opinion

Basis for
opinion

Key audit
matters

| have audited the consolidated financial report of the State of Victoria (State) and the Victorian
General Government Sector (General Government Sector), which comprises the:

consolidated State and General Government Sector balance sheets as at 30 June 2024
consolidated State and General Government Sector comprehensive operating statements for
the year then ended

e consolidated State and General Government Sector statements of changes in equity for the year
then ended

e consolidated State and General Government Sector cash flow statements for the year then

ended
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information
certification by the Treasurer and the Secretary of the Department of Treasury and Finance.

In my opinion, the consolidated financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
positions of the State and the General Government Sector as at 30 June 2024 and their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting
requirements of Section 24 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian
Accounting Standards.

| have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994, which incorporates the Australian
Auditing Standards. | further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial report section of my report.

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and | are independent of the
State and the General Government Sector in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the consolidated financial report in Victoria.
My staff and | have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance
in my audit of the consolidated financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of my audit of the consolidated financial report as a whole and in forming my opinion
thereon, and | do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Level 31 / 35 Collins Street, Melbourne Vic 3000
T 03 8601 7000 enquiries@audit.vic.gov.au www.audit.vic.gov.au
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Key audit matter How | addressed the matter

Recognition and measurement of transport assets

Refer to Note 4.1 Land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment and Note 7.5 Fair value determination of
non-financial assets

Significant spending on capital projects in the transport My key procedures included:

sector results in large additions to the State’s asset e  assessing management’s process to identify individual
base each year. assets within a project, and the costs directly attributable
The State is ultimately responsible for ensuring proper to those assets

accounts and records are maintained to sufficiently
explain the financial impact of these assets on the
financial performance and financial position of the
State.

| considered this to be a key audit matter because:

e assessing the results of the work undertaken by
management to review work in progress balances and
completed projects capitalised

e reviewing management’s assessment of the existence of
assets, and the completeness and accuracy of asset

® transport assets are financially significant records
e capital projects in the transport sector are e reviewing the accounting treatment for asset additions,
complex, and each project results in multiple disposals and replacements against the requirements of
assets being constructed Australian Accounting Standards
* asignificant degree of management judgementis e  assessing the results of fair value assessments,
required to: challenging assumptions contained within, and
o determine individual assets within a project investigating significant variances
o determine which expenses should be e assessing the potential impact of identified issues on the
capitalised consolidated financial statements.

o allocate capital expenses to individual assets
o determine the fair value of individual assets.

o multiple agencies are involved in the management
and delivery of capital projects in the transport
sector which makes the timely recognition and
derecognition of assets challenging

e Victorian Rail Track (VicTrack) is the custodial
owner of a large portion of the State’s transport
assets. Significant asset accounting issues exist at
VicTrack.
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How | addressed the matter

Key audit matter

Recognition and measurement of service concession assets, liabilities and commitments

Refer to Note 4.1 Land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment, Note 4.2 Other non-financial assets, Note 5.1
Borrowings, Note 5.3 Service concession arrangements and Note 6.4 Other liabilities

Service concession assets: land, buildings,
infrastructure, plant and equipment — $46.8 billion

Service concession assets: intangible produced —
$3.5 billion

Service concession arrangement liabilities — $7.5 billion

Service concession arrangements commitments —
$52.5 billion (nominal value)

Service concession grant of a right to the operator
(GORTO) liabilities — $20.2 billion

There are three types of service concession
arrangements:

e arrangements where the State has contractual
obligations to make payments and other
contributions to the operators for the construction
and operation of the assets

e arrangements where the State has granted the
operators the right to charge the public directly for
the use of the assets

e hybrid arrangements where the State has granted
the operators the right to charge the public for use
of assets and the State makes contractual
payments and other contributions to the operator.

| considered this to be a key audit matter because:

e  service concession assets, liabilities and
commitments are financially significant

e the requirements of AASB 1059 Service Concession
Arrangements: Grantors are complex, and their
application requires significant management
estimation and judgement

e service concession arrangements and the financial
models used to value the assets, liabilities and
commitments are complex

e asignificant degree of management judgement is

required to determine the key assumptions used in

valuing the assets, liabilities and commitments

e extensive disclosures are required by Australian
Accounting Standards which are critical to the
users understanding of service concession assets,
liabilities and commitments.

My key procedures included:

reviewing material contracts, supporting schedules,
financial models and professional accounting advice
received by the State, where applicable

assessing the accounting treatment against the
requirements of AASB 1059, and the reasonableness of
management judgements made in the application of the
standard

engaging appropriately qualified independent subject
matter experts to review certain valuation methodologies
and financial models and assess the:

o appropriateness of fair value methodologies
o reasonableness and consistency of assumptions

o reasonableness of inputs against underlying data
and supporting documentation

o accuracy of models

reviewing all other material financial models and
confirming the judgements applied by management to
independent expert reports

assessing the completeness and accuracy of service
concession assets, liabilities and commitments against the
contracts and underlying financial models for each project

comparing the reasonableness of asset amounts against
actual costs incurred

assessing the adequacy of financial report disclosures
against the requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards.
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Key audit matter

Valuation of defined benefit superannuation liability
Refer to Note 6.5 Superannuation

Defined benefit superannuation liability — $18.2 billion

The Emergency Services and State Super funds account
for $17.3 billion (95.2 per cent) of the State’s defined
benefit superannuation liability (the liability). The
Emergency Services Superannuation Board (ESSB)
manage these funds.

| considered this to be a key audit matter because:
e the liability is financially significant

e the underlying model used to value the liability is
complex

e asignificant degree of management judgement is
required to determine the method, the model and
key assumptions used in valuing the liability

e asmall adjustment to an assumption may have a
significant effect on the total value of the liability

e ESSB has outsourced core member administration
and fund accounting to an outsourced service
provider. An independent assurance auditor was
engaged by ESSB to report on the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
controls at the service provider

e extensive disclosures are required by Australian
Accounting Standards which are critical to the
users understanding of the valuation of the
liability.

Management engaged an actuary to value the liability

as at 30 April, then adjust the value of the liability to

account for actual market performance and
movements in key assumptions up to 30 June.

How | addressed the matter

My key procedures included:

gaining an understanding of the design and
implementation of key controls over the outsourced
arrangement, and then testing their operating
effectiveness, including those:
o supporting the completeness and accuracy of
membership data
o assisting with the management and oversight of the
arrangement
obtaining the independent assurance auditor’s report
over the outsourced service provider’s controls and:
o assessing the adequacy of the scope of work agreed
between management and the assurance auditor
o assessing the professional competence and
independence of the assurance auditor
o considering the relevance of the stated control
objectives and controls covered by the assurance
report
o assessing the testing performed by the assurance
auditor and the results of the tests
o assessing the sufficiency and appropriateness of the
audit evidence provided by the assurance report
assessing the professional competence and independence
of the actuary
obtaining the actuarial report and year-end adjustments,
and engaging an appropriately qualified independent
actuary to assist in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit
evidence for the liability and disclosures, including to:
o assess the appropriateness of the model used to
value the liability
o review the reasonableness of membership data in
the model by comparing it to the data in the service
provider’s system
o assess the appropriateness of management's
selection and application of the method, significant
assumptions and data used to value the liability
o challenge the reasonableness of key assumptions by
comparing against accepted industry benchmarks
o assess the reasonableness of the reported liability
value
assessing the adequacy of financial report disclosures

against the requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards.
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How | addressed the matter

Valuation of provision for insurance claims
Refer to Note 6.6 Other provisions

Provision for insurance claims — $50.6 billion
| considered this to be a key audit matter because:

e the provision for insurance claims is financially
significant

e there are several insurance claim categories at the
Victorian WorkCover Authority (WorkSafe),
Transport Accident Commission and Victorian
Managed Insurance Authority which make up the
provision and must be valued

e the underlying models used to value the provision
are complex

e the valuation of the provision is subject to
significant management assumptions and
estimation uncertainty

e asmall adjustment to an assumption may have a
significant effect on the total value of the provision

e on 31 March 2024, WorkSafe scheme reforms took
effect under the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation
and Compensation Amendment (WorkCover
Scheme Modernisation) Act 2024 (the Act). These
reforms affect the assumptions and judgements
made by management, which are essential for
accurately valuing the provision

e extensive disclosures are required by Australian
Accounting Standards which are critical to the
users understanding of the valuation of the
provision

e Management of each respective agency engaged
actuaries to value the provision as at 30 June.

Other
information

My key procedures included:

gaining an understanding of the systems, processes and
models that affect claims data and the provision valuation

testing the operating effectiveness of key controls
supporting the underlying claims data used in the models

gaining an understanding of the changes to the WorkSafe
scheme introduced by the Act and their financial impact

assessing the completeness and accuracy of the claims
data used in the model by reconciling this data to
underlying claims data in the insurers’ systems

assessing the professional competence and independence
of management’s actuaries

obtaining management’s actuarial reports, and engaging
an appropriately qualified independent actuary to:

o  assess the appropriateness of management's
selection and application of the methods, significant
assumptions including those used in applying
WorkSafe reforms to value the provision

o assess the reasonableness of data and other inputs
used in valuing the provision

o evaluate the appropriateness of the models used to
value the provision

o challenge the reasonableness of key assumptions by
comparing against claims history and accepted
industry benchmarks

o assess the reasonableness of the reported provision
value.

assessing the adequacy of financial report disclosures
against the requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards including disclosures relating to the WorkSafe
reforms.

The Treasurer of Victoria is responsible for the Other Information, which comprises the
information in chapters 1-3 and 5 of the 2023-24 Financial Report but does not include the

consolidated financial report in chapter 4 and my auditor’s report thereon.

My opinion on the consolidated financial report does not cover the Other Information and
accordingly, | do not express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other Information.
However, in connection with my audit of the consolidated financial report, my responsibility is
to read the Other Information and in doing so, consider whether it is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial report or the knowledge | obtained during the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work | have performed, |
conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, | am required to report that
fact. | have nothing to report in this regard.
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The Treasurer's
responsibilities
for the
consolidated
financial report

Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit of
the
consolidated
financial report

The Treasurer of Victoria is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Financial Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Treasurer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of a consolidated financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial report, the Treasurer is responsible for assessing the
State and the General Government Sector’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless it is inappropriate to do so.

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this consolidated financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial report,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the State and the General Government Sector’s internal
control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Treasurer.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the Treasurer's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the State and the General
Government Sector’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the State and the
General Government Sector to cease to continue as a going concern.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial report represents the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the State and the General Government Sector to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial report. | remain responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the consolidated financial report. |
remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.
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Auditor’s | communicate with the Treasurer regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
responsibilities  timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
for the audit of  control that | identify during my audit.

the
consolidated
financial report
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Treasurer, | determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial report of the current period and are
therefore key audit matters. | describe these matters in the auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in the auditor’s report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

MELBOURNE Greaves
2 October 2024 AuditorGeneral
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CERTIFICATION BY THE TREASURER AND THE SECRETARY OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
TREASURY AND FINANCE

The Department of Treasury and Finance has prepared the Awnnal Financial Report through consolidating the
tinancial information provided by the Victorian public sector reporting entities listed in Note 9.8.

In our opinion, the Annual Financial Report, which comprises the consolidated comprehensive operating
statement, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, and notes to the financial statements of the State and the Victorian general government sector as at

30 June 2024:

a) presents fairly the State’s and the Victorian general government sectot’s financial positions as at 30 June
2024 and their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year ended on that date

b) has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and pronouncements, in particular
AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting and the financial reporting
requirements contained in Part 5 of the Financial Management Act 1994.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the
Annual Financial Report to be misleading or inaccurate.

N\ S

Tim Pallas MP Chris Hotham

Treasurer Acting Secretary

Authorised for issue on:

26 September 2024
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 30 June (S million)
General
State of Victoria government sector
Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue and income from transactions

Taxation 2.1 36324 31852 36 876 32350
Interest income 2.2 2157 1502 1761 1307
Dividends, income tax equivalent and rate equivalent income 2.3 2485 2 404 2199 820
Sales of goods and services 2.4 19 885 17 943 6212 6263
Grants 2.5 41 686 40 063 41797 40138
Other revenue and income 2.6 5068 4681 4210 3842
Total revenue and income from transactions 107 605 98 445 93 055 84720
Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1 37 467 35168 36 035 33629
Net superannuation interest expense 3.2 775 721 774 719
Other superannuation 3.2 4312 3982 4062 3760
Depreciation 4.1.2 8279 7 652 4967 4604
Interest expense 5.7 6722 4778 5639 3974
Grant expense 33 14721 16 468 16 675 19 053
Other operating expenses 3.4 43 787 42 415 29127 27 828
Total expenses from transactions 3.5,3.6 116 064 111184 97 279 93 567
Net result from transactions — Net operating balance (8 459) (12 739) (4 223) (8 847)
Other economic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets (63) 87 (2) 90
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets or liabilities at fair value 2422 3469 345 (29)
Share of net profit/(loss) from associates/joint venture entities (53) (39) (46) (39)
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 9.3 613 1583 (566) (1022)
Total other economic flows included in net result 2919 5101 (269) (1 000)
Net result (5 540) (7 638) (4 493) (9 847)

Other economic flows — Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in non-financial assets revaluation surplus 9626 21214 7 650 13710

Remeasurement of superannuation defined benefits plans 3.2 1675 1371 1661 1356

Other movements in equity (67) (644) 108 (536)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net result

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value 15 130 14 139

Net gain/(loss) on equity investments in other sector entities at 6.1 . . (1.864) 3431
proportional share of the carrying amount of net assets

Total other economic flows — Other comprehensive income 11248 22 070 7 569 18 099

Comprehensive result — Total change in net worth 5708 14 432 3076 8252

KEY FISCAL AGGREGATES

Net operating balance (8 459) (12 739) (4 223) (8 847)
Less: Net acquisition of non-financial assets from transactions 9.1 18528 16 075 12 875 11285
Net lending/(borrowing) (26 987) (28 814) (17 099) (20 132)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 30 June (S million)

General

State of Victoria government sector
2024 2023 2024 2023

Assets
Financial assets

Cash and deposits 5.5 19 595 25678 14 306 19 698
Advances paid 5.6 521 930 6421 5308
Receivables and contract assets 6.2 14129 11973 10163 9 046
Investments, loans and placements 5.6 81054 63 975 14 866 3853
Investments accounted for using the equity method 43.1 1220 1193 1143 1180
Investments in other sector entities 6.1 . . 98178 96 042
Total financial assets 116 519 103 750 145 077 135128
Non-financial assets

Inventories 1748 1851 402 574
Non-financial assets held for sale 245 139 232 110
Land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment 4.1.1 436 678 408 948 269 690 249 480
Other non-financial assets 4.2 7 505 7 152 6222 5898
Total non-financial assets 446 177 418 090 276 546 256 062
Total assets 3.6 562 697 521 840 421 623 391 190
Liabilities

Deposits held and advances received 5.4 1938 1777 1525 1615
Payables @ 6.3 10 491 8718 7741 6 300
Borrowings 5.1 193 712 164 953 167 309 142 289
Employee benefits 31 11 857 10948 11120 10 250
Superannuation 6.5 18 226 18 904 18 226 18 904
Other provisions 6.6 53 960 50129 3431 2950
Other liabilities @ 6.4 32609 32215 22411 22099
Total liabilities 322792 287 643 231764 204 407
Net assets 239904 234197 189 859 186 783
Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 76 281 80 106 43 405 45 889
Reserves 163 624 154 090 146 454 140 894
Net worth 239904 234 197 189 859 186 783

FISCAL AGGREGATES

Net financial worth (206273) (183 893) (86 686) (69 278)
Net financial liabilities 206 273 183 893 184 865 165 321
Net debt 94 480 76 146 133 241 115 044

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Note:
(a) The grant of a right to the operator liability, unearned income and contract liabilities line items previously disclosed within payables have now been disclosed within
the other liabilities line item to more accurately reflect the nature of these items.
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the financial year ended 30 June ($ million)

General

Cash flows from operating activities

State of Victoria

government sector

2024

2023

2024

2023

Receipts

Taxes received 35944 31123 36 496 31621
Grants 40959 40 822 41 062 40 881
Sales of goods and services @ 21669 20018 6 894 6873
Interest received 1798 1058 1691 1229
Dividends, income tax equivalent and rate equivalent receipts 2 550 2292 2 645 693
Other receipts ®) 2694 10 569 2 408 10207
Total receipts 105614 105 882 91 197 91503
Payments

Payments for employees (36 465) (34 760) (35074) (33 260)
Superannuation (4 098) (4192) (3 853) (3975)
Interest paid (5 669) (4281) (5262) (3 559)
Grants and subsidies (13922) (15771) (15936) (18 403)
Goods and services @ (38 629) (37 840) (26 868) (27 110)
Other payments (1582) (961) (1582) (945)
Total payments (100 364) (97 805) (88 574) (87 253)
Net cash flows from operating activities 5.5 5249 8077 2623 4250
Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from investments in non-financial assets

Purchases of non-financial assets 3.5,3.6 (23 021) (20 519) (17 375) (16 273)
Sales of non-financial assets 670 542 319 325
Net cash flows from investments in non-financial assets (22 351) (19 977) (17 056) (15 948)
Cash flows from investments in financial assets for policy purposes

Cash inflows 1223 606 1789 759
Cash outflows (939) (966) (4 119) (2 385)
Net cash flows from investments in financial assets for policy purposes 283 (359) (2331) (1 625)
Cash flows from investments in financial assets for liquidity management

purposes
Cash inflows 5770 6 407 574 824
Cash outflows (20659)  (13560) (11 123) (1316)
Net cash flows from investments in financial assets for liquidity (14 889) (7 153) (10 549) (492)
management purposes (©

Net cash flows from investing activities (36 957) (27 490) (29 936) (18 065)
Cash flows from financing activities

Advances received 26 44 23 32
Advances repaid (38) (26) (249) (274)
Advances received (net) (© (12) 19 (226) (242)
Borrowings received 30339 33500 26711 28 040
Borrowings repaid (4 876) (5719) (4 700) (5291)
Net borrowings () 25463 27780 22011 22749
Deposits received @ 2762 1605 2380 1300
Deposits repaid (@ (2 590) (1571) (2 244) (1278)
Deposits received (net) © 173 34 136 22
Net cash flows from financing activities 25624 27 833 21921 22529
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6 083) 8420 (5392) 8713
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of reporting period 25678 17 258 19 698 10985
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the reporting period 5.5 19 595 25678 14 306 19 698
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

For the financial year ended 30 June (S million)

General
State of Victoria government sector

2024 2023 2024 2023

FISCAL AGGREGATES

Net cash flows from operating activities 5249 8077 2623 4250
Net cash flows from investments in non-financial assets (22 351) (19977) (17 056) (15948)
Cash surplus/(deficit) (17 102) (11 900) (14 434) (11 698)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes:

(a) These items include goods and services tax.

(b) This decrease in other receipts from the prior year primarily reflects the $7.9 billion proceeds from the VicRoads Modernisation joint venture. Notes 4.3.1 and 5.3.4
provide more information on the accounting treatment of this arrangement.

(c) Inaccordance with AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, the TCV has reported its cash flow information for whole of government consolidation purposes on a net
basis for both financial years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024.

(d) The June 2023 figures for deposits received and deposits repaid have been restated to more correctly reflect the nature of the cashflows.
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PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 30 June (S million)
Investment in other

Accumulated Non-financial assets sector entities Other
State of Victoria surplus/(deficit)  revaluation surplus  revaluation surplus reserves
2024
Balance at 1 July 2023 80 106 151951 . 2139 234 197
Net result for the year (5 540) . . . (5 540)
Other comprehensive income for the year 1329 9626 . 293 11248
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus 385 (385) . . .
Balance at 30 June 2024 76 281 161 192 . 2432 239 904
2023
Balance at 1 July 2022 84 968 132911 . 1886 219 765
Net result for the year (7 638) . . (7 638)
Other comprehensive income for the year 604 21214 . 253 22 070
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus 2174 (2174) . . .
Balance at 30 June 2023 80 106 151 951 . 2139 234 197

General government sector

2024

Balance at 1 July 2023 45 889 91269 48 245 1380 186 783
Net result for the year (4 493) . . . (4 493)
Other comprehensive income for the year 1635 7 650 (1 864) 149 7 569
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus 375 (375) . . .
Balance at 30 June 2024 43 405 98 544 46 381 1528 189 859
2023

Balance at 1 July 2022 52 827 79719 44 815 1170 178 531
Net result for the year (9847) . . . (9 847)
Other comprehensive income for the year 749 13710 3431 210 18 099
Transfer to/(from) accumulated surplus 2160 (2 160) . . .
Balance at 30 June 2023 45 889 91 269 48 245 1380 186 783

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

Basis of preparation

This Annual Financial Report presents the audited
general purpose consolidated financial statements of
the State and the Victorian general government
sector for the financial year ended 30 June 2024.
This report informs users about the Government’s
stewardship of the resources entrusted to it.

Accounting policies selected and applied ensure that
the resulting financial information satisfies the
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby
ensuring that the substance of the underlying
transactions or other events is reported.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied,
where assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses
are recognised in the reporting period to which they
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These financial statements are in Australian dollars
and the historical cost convention is used except
for:

e the general government sector investments in
other sector entities which are measured at net
asset value

e non-financial physical assets including service
concession arrangement assets and right-of-use
assets which, subsequent to initial recognition,
are measured at a revalued amount being their
fair value at the reporting date less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are
made with sufficient regularity to ensure that
the carrying amounts do not materially differ
from their fair values

e certain liabilities, most notably unfunded
superannuation and insurance claim provisions,
which are subject to actuarial assessments

e financial assets classified at fair value through
other comprehensive income, which are
measured at fair value with movements
reflected in other economic flows — other
comprehensive income

e financial assets classified at fair value through
profit and loss, which are measured at fair value
with movements reflected in other economic
flows included in net result.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required
to be made about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on professional judgements derived from
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised and also in future periods that are affected
by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made
by management in applying Australian Accounting
Standards that have significant effects on the
financial statements and estimates telate to:

e revenue/income recognition — determination of
GST income based on the State’s entitlement

(Note 2.5)

e provision for employee benefits — use of
assumptions in the measurement of employee
benefit provisions (Note 3.1)

e superannuation expenses and liabilities — use of
actuarial assumptions in measuring liabilities
(Note 3.2 and Note 6.5)

e insurance claims — use of actuarial assumptions
in the measurement of liabilities for outstanding
insurance claims (Note 6.6.1)

e service concession arrangements — whether and
how AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements:
Grantor applies (Note 5.3)

e fair value measurement — Level 3 valuation
inputs used in measuring fair values of financial
and non-financial physical assets and liabilities
in accordance with AASB 13 Fuair VValue
Measurement (Note 7.4 and Note 7.5).

All amounts in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest $1 000 000 except in the
Public Account disclosure in Note 8.2 and the
Related party transactions disclosure in Note 9.5,
which are rounded to the nearest $1 000.

Figures in the 2023-24 Financial Report may not add
due to rounding.
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2. HOW FUNDS ARE RAISED

Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the State
incorporate assets and liabilities of all reporting
entities it controlled as at 30 June 2024 and the
revenue and expenses of controlled entities for the
part of the reporting period in which control existed

(Note 9.8).

The consolidated financial statements of the
Victorian general government sector incorporate
the assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses of
entities classified as general government. Entities in
the public non-financial corporation (PNFC) and
public financial corporation (PFC) sectors are not
consolidated into the financial statements of the
general government sector, but are accounted for as
equity investments measured at the Government’s
proportional share of the carrying amount of the
net assets of the PNFC and PFC sector entities
before consolidation eliminations. Where the
carrying amount of the entity’s net assets is less than
zero (before consolidation), the amount is not
included in the general government sector, but the
net liabilities will be consolidated at the State level.
Any change in the carrying amount of the
investment from period to period is accounted for
as if the change in carrying amount is a change in
fair value and accounted for in a manner consistent
with AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

Entities which are not controlled by the State,
including local government authorities, universities
and denominated hospitals, are not consolidated
into the financial statements for the State.

Where entities adopt dissimilar accounting policies
and their effect is considered material, adjustments
are made to ensure consistent policies are adopted
in these financial statements.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for reporting the State and the Victorian general
government sector, all material transactions and
balances between consolidated government-
controlled entities are eliminated.

Although certain entities prepare their audited
financial statements on a different financial year end
basis, their information on transactions and
balances supplied for consolidation purposes reflect
adjusted audited figures.

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004
Contributions, contributions by owners (that is,
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as
equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part
of the revenues and expenses of the relevant sectors
of government.

Compliance

These general-purpose financial statements have
been prepared in the manner and form as
determined by the Treasurer, in accordance with the
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable
Australian Accounting Standards (AASs), which
include Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular,
they are presented consistent with the requirements
of AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General
Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs
applicable to not-for-profit entities have been
applied.

The Government Finance Statistics (GFS)
information included in this report is based on
the GFS manual (the Australian Bureau of
Statistics (ABS) publication Australian Systen of
Government Finance Statistics: Concepts, Sources and
Methods 2015 as updated from time to time).
Note 9.4 describes the significant differences
between Australian Accounting Standards and
the requirements contained in the GFS Manual.

Economic and fiscal impacts affecting
this report

The sharp rise in global and national inflation in 2022
continued to present a challenge to the Victorian
economy during 2023-24, as it did for Australia and
many other advanced economies. Inflation eased over
the year, yet it remained elevated and above the
Reserve Bank of Australia’s (RBA) target range.

To contain inflation pressures, the RBA raised interest
rates further in November 2023, to a 12-year high.
Elevated inflation and higher interest rates restrained
activity in some sectors of the Victorian and national
economies, and these headwinds have affected the
State’s revenue and expenses, including land transfer
duty revenue and interest expense. Interest rate rises
have led to declines in borrowing capacity and housing
sentiment, which have negatively affected land transfer
duty revenue, however, the impact was lower than
forecast for 2023-24.

The State’s comprehensive operating statement and
balance sheet in 2023-24 were also impacted by
financial market volatility and bond yield movements
which impacted the investment returns of the
Victorian Future Fund, the superannuation funds
and State’s insurance agencies and the valuation of
the related liabilities.
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Further market related impacts have also been
considered and, where deemed appropriate,
specifically included in relevant disclosures
throughout the 2023-24 Financial Report to reflect the
material management judgements, estimates and
assumptions in the valuation of key balances within
the financial report:

Note 6.5: Superannuation

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

e Note 6.6.1: Insurance claims
e Note 7.4: Fair value determination of financial
assets and liabilities
e Note 7.5: Fair value determination of
non-financial assets.
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2. HOW FUNDS ARE RAISED

Introduction Structure
This section presents the sources and amounts of 2.1 TAXAHON oot 49
revenue and income raised by the State. 22 Interest income 50
Revenue and income recognition are determined by 2.3 Dividends, income tax equivalent and rate
the State based on the substance of the relevant equivalent iNCOME ... 50
arrangement in accordance with the requirements of .
AASB 15 Revenne from Contracts with Customers, 2.4 Sales of goods and SEIvices .......cocviviiriirirrinrincinn. 51
AASB 16 Leases, AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit 2.5 GIANLS corereeeirirreesie ettt sttt ssss s senses 52
Entities and AASB 1059 Service Concession 2.6 Other revenue and income.........coocveuneererecicnncnnees 53
Arrangements: Grantors.
2.1 Taxation

($ million)

General

State of Victoria government sector
2024 2023 2024 2023

TAXES ON EMPLOYERS’ PAYROLL AND LABOUR FORCE

Payroll tax 8 527 7 286 8639 7392
COVID Debt Levy — Payroll $10m+ 924 " 934 .
Mental Health and Wellbeing Levy 1001 900 1018 904
Total taxes on employers’ payroll and labour force 10 452 8186 10 590 8296
TAXES ON IMMOVABLE PROPERTY

Land tax 5864 5310 5930 5367
COVID Debt Levy — Landholdings 1164 . 1164 .
Fire Services Property Levy 839 792 839 792
Congestion levy 117 108 117 108
Metropolitan improvement levy 200 206 200 206
Windfall gains tax 114 . 114 .
Total taxes on property 8298 6416 8 365 6473

TAXES ON THE PROVISION OF GOODS AND SERVICES
Gambling taxes @

Public lotteries 689 621 689 621
Electronic gaming machines 1383 1365 1383 1365
Casino 208 180 208 180
Racing and other sports betting 277 287 277 287
Other 18 17 18 17
Financial and capital transactions

Land transfer duty 8426 8737 8426 8737
Metropolitan planning levy 20 22 20 22
Financial accommodation levy . . 172 156
Growth areas infrastructure contribution 255 260 255 260
Levies on statutory corporations . . 173 173
Taxes on insurance 2076 1875 2076 1875
Total taxes on the provision of goods and services 13 351 13 364 13 696 13 694

TAXES ON THE USE OF GOODS AND PERFORMANCE OF ACTIVITIES
Motor vehicle taxes

Vehicle registration fees ® 2092 1944 2094 1946
Duty on vehicle registrations and transfers 1386 1256 1386 1256
Liquor licence fees 31 21 31 21
Other 713 665 713 665
Total taxes on the use of goods and performance of activities 4223 3 886 4225 3 888
Total taxation 36324 31852 36 876 32350
Notes:

(a) The public lotteries, electronic gaming machines, casino, racing and other sports betting and other gambling taxes balances include gambling licence revenue to
30 June 2024 of 5202 million (30 June 2023: 5184 million) recognised under AASB 15. The balance of these items is recognised under AASB 1058.
(b) A total of $7.4 million was reimbursed to customers in 2023-24 who had previously paid the zero and low emissions vehicle road-user charge.
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Taxation represents income earned from the State’s
taxpayers. For taxes (excluding gambling licence
revenue), income is recognised under AASB 1058
when the relevant taxable event has occurred.

Gambling licence revenue is accounted for under
AASB 15 using the principles noted in Note 2.4.

2.2 Interest income

Interest income includes interest earned on bank
term deposits and other investments, and the
unwinding over time of the discount on financial
assets. Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method, which allocates the
interest over the relevant period.

2. HOW FUNDS ARE RAISED

Net realised and unrealised gains or losses on the
revaluation of investments do not form part of net
result from transactions, but are reported either as
part of other economic flows included in the net
result or as unrealised gains or losses taken directly
to equity, forming part of the total change in net
worth in the comprehensive result.

2.3 Dividends, income tax equivalent and rate equivalent income

($ million)
General
government sector
2024 2023 2024 2023

State of Victoria

Dividends from PFC sector 1232 8
Dividends from PNFC sector . . 206 102
Dividends from non-public sector 2485 2404 143 73
Dividends 24385 2404 1581 183
Income tax equivalent income from PFC sector 352 411
Income tax equivalent income from PNFC sector 261 221
Income tax equivalent income 614 632
Local government rate equivalent income . . 4 5
Total dividends, income tax equivalent and rate equivalent income 2485 2404 2199 820

General government sector dividends, income tax
equivalent and rate equivalent income represent
income earned from other sectors of government.
Such income for the general government sector is
recognised when the right to receive the payment is

established.

Dividends and income tax equivalent income are
mainly from the public non-financial corporation
(PNFC) and public financial corporation (PFC)
sectors. This income is based on established
dividend policies and the profitability of the PNFCs
and PFCs.

While most government departments and agencies
are exempt from federal income tax, certain larger
PNFC and PFC entities are subject to income tax
equivalents payable to the general government
sector in accordance with the National Tax
Equivalent Regime (NTER).

The primary objective of the NTER is to promote
competitive neutrality by uniformly applying income
tax laws to NTER entities and their privately held
counterparts.

Dividends and income tax equivalents from the
PNFC and PFC sectors are eliminated on
consolidation into the financial statements of the
State.

Dividends earned from the non-public sector
primarily relate to distributions from investments
held in managed funds, and are recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is established.
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2. HOW FUNDS ARE RAISED

Dividends by entity @ ($ million)

General

government sector
2024 2023

Public financial corporations
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority .
Transport Accident Commission 1082

Treasury Corporation of Victoria 145

State Trustees Ltd 1

Victorian Funds Management Corporation 4

Dividends from PFC sector 1232

Public non-financial corporations

Greater Western Water 42 25
Melbourne Water Corporation 48 10
South East Water Corporation 47 22
Yarra Valley Water Corporation 41 41
Development Victoria 27 4
Others 2 .
Dividends from PNFC sector 206 102

Note:

(a) ‘Amounts equivalent to dividends’ paid by the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority are received and reported as contributions forming part of grant revenue, due
to the requirements of AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts. The amount paid in 2023-24 was $598 000 from the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority. There
were no amounts paid in 2022-23.

2.4 Sales of goods and services

($ million)

General

State of Victoria government sector
2024 2023 2024 2023

Amounts recognised as revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15)

Sale of goods 594 651 99 95
Provision of services (@ 17 464 15562 4937 5091
Amounts recognised as income of not-for-profit entities (AASB 1058)

Motor vehicle regulatory fees 288 242 288 242
Other regulatory fees 806 771 780 749
Refunds and reimbursements 368 374 2 2
Amounts recognised as lease income (AASB 16)

Rental 365 342 106 85
Total sales of goods and services 19 885 17 943 6212 6263
Note:

(a) Further disclosure on provision of services is available on the Department of Treasury and Finance’s website (www.dtf.vic.gov.au). This further disclosure is not
subject to audit by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office.

The sale of goods and services included in the table e customers obtain control of the supplies and
above (excluding regulatory fees, refunds and consumables at a point in time when the goods
reimbursements, which are recognised under are delivered to and have been accepted at their
A